
CITY COUNCIL MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
 

Notice is hereby given that the City Council of Caribou will hold a Regular City Council Meeting 
on Monday, June 26, 2023, in the Council Chambers located at 25 High Street, 6:00 pm. 
THE MEETING WILL BE BROADCAST ON CABLE CHANNELS 8 & 1301 AND THE CITY’S YOUTUBE CHANNEL.  
1. Roll Call 
2. Invocation/Inspirational Thought  Pastor Michael Sullivan, CUBC  
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
4. Public Forum in accordance with City Charter Section 2.10 (i)(b)  
(PUBLIC COMMENTS SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK PRIOR TO 4:30PM ON THE MEETING DATE WILL BE SHARED DURING 
PUBLIC FORUM. EMAIL:  dbrissette@cariboumaine.org) 
5. Minutes            Pages 

a. Regular City Council meeting – May 22, 2023      02-10 
6. Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

a. Introduction of the new owners of Bechard’s Grill: John & Rae Rossignol   11 
b. Introduction of the new owners of Big Bang Theater: Michael & Pat Cyr   12 
c. Birthday Greetings, Caribou Boston Post Cane holder – Anna Marie Roberts  13 
d. Recognition of Caribou Rehab and Nursing Center  for 50 years     14-16 
e. Spirit of America honorees: Gary Cook & Keith Brown     17-19 

7. Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 
a. Dangerous Building Public Hearing – 7 Water Street, Map 31 Lot 171   20-52 
b. Dangerous Building Public Hearing – 24 Park Street, Map 35 Lot 73   53-98 

8. Reports by Staff and Committees 
a. Tax Acquired property bid – 8 Shirley Drive      99 
b. April 2023 Financials – Finance Director       100-116 
c. Manager’s Report         117-118 

9. New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 
a. Introduction of Nylander Museum Bylaws      119-122 
b. Introduction of Ordinance 3, 2023 Series, Charter Amendment, an Ordinance to Amend the 

Capital Improvement Referendum Process      123-126 
c. First Read: MOU for the Dust Bowl       127-129 
d. Resolution 06-02-2022, Establishing the 2023 Property Tax Rates and Related Deadlines  130-132 

10. Old Business     
11. Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members     Reports 
12. Next Regular Meetings: July 24, August 28       133-146 
13. Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 
14. Adjournment 
If you are planning to attend this Public Meeting and due to a disability, need assistance in understanding or 
participating in the meeting, please notify the City Clerk ten or more hours in advance and we will, within reason, 
provide what assistance may be required. 
 
Certificate of Mailing/Posting 
The undersigned duly appointed City official for the municipality of Caribou City hereby certifies that a copy of the 
foregoing Notice and Agenda was posted at City Offices and on-line in accordance with City noticing procedures.      
 

 
BY: ____________________________________ Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

1

mailto:dbrissette@cariboumaine.org


May 22, 2023 
23-11 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a City Council meeting, Monday, May 22, 2023, in the Council Chambers 
with the following members present; Mayor Smith, Deputy Mayor Boma, Councilors Bagley, Morrill, 
Theriault, and Willey.  Councilor Goughan was absent and excused.  

Manager Thompson was present for the meeting.  

Department Managers Brian Lajoie (Fire Chief) Ken Murchison (CEO/Zoning Administrator), 
Carl Grant (Finance Director), Michael Gahagan (Police Chief) and Gary Marquis 
(Superintendent of Parks and Recreation) were present for the meeting. 

Melissa Lizotte of the Aroostook Republican covered the meeting, and it was broadcasted via 
YouTube.  

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation / Inspirational Thought 

Mayor Smith read an invocation.   

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Council Agenda Item #3:  Public Forum 

Mayor Smith explained that pursuant to Caribou Charter section 2.10 there shall be a timeslot of 
at least 15 minutes available at the beginning of each regularly scheduled meeting, for input from 
residents or taxpayers of Caribou.  The Council will maintain a Rule of Procedure to allow the 
public to comment on agenda and non-agenda items at the start of each council meeting.  All 
requests will be honored.  

Procedure: 

1.  Individuals addressing the Council shall give their name and address and shall do so during the time 
period established and, in a manner, as described: 

 a.)  Individuals addressing the Council shall give their name and address and shall limit 
their statements to not more than five minutes.  The Council Chair, at his/her discretion, 
may allow more time to a speaker.   

 b.)  Individuals wishing to appear on the Council agenda to address the council shall 
contact the City Manager no later than 5:00 p.m. on the Thursday before the Council 
meeting if they wish to appear on the agenda.  This is not a requirement to address the 
Council during public input.   

Nature of Address: 

All comments need to be addressed to the Council at large and not to specific members.   

Questions shall be asked of individual Council members only through the presiding officer.  

Discussion will be limited to Council members and the person recognized as having the floor.  

2



May 22, 2023 
23-11 Pg. 2 

Any person making personal, inappropriate behavior while addressing the Council may be instructed to 
leave the meeting by presiding officer.   

The Rules of procedure for addressing the Council were adopted by the City Council April 8, 2013.  

Tammie Crouch, Caribou taxpayer/ business owner 

 “Good evening City Council Members 

Forgive me in advance if I get emotional.  It has been an emotional 15 weeks.  

My name is Tammie Crouch, I am the matriarch of the family.  I have owned a business 
in the City of Caribou and have been a taxpayer for the past 27 years. I reside in 
Woodland.   

On May 6th my son and his family became the history of an EMT/First Responder alleged 
questionable actions.  The victim of an irrational decision that placed my granddaughter 
and her friend in the same harm as the dog he shot.   

Firing a .223-caliber weapon, capable of accuracy up to 250 yards.  Firing a bullet that 
wobbles and corkscrews, designed to ricochet upon impact.  Capable of entering an ankle 
and exiting a shoulder, mutilating my granddaughter’s beloved pet.  Creating a traumatic 
experience that haunts her and will for the rest of her life.  The trauma of begging, 
pleading and crying while her dog lays bleeding out and no one would put the pet out of 
his misery and pain.  The trauma she has experienced has even affected the ACO of 
Woodland.  That horrific day has changed the whole families’ lives.  They cannot 
function in their normal lives.  They do not sleep, eat or even engage in outside activities.  
The other family dog does not want to play or eat, just stands and watches for his brother 
to come home.  Keeps on looking towards the woods where his brother was shot.  

This man should be held to a higher standard, he should be able to make rational 
decisions under duress.  

The Maine Department of Public Safety EMSS Rules has Statues and Rules of being an 
EMT … §1 Rule #5 …. Acting or engaging in ways that are dangerous or injurious to the 
licensee (himself) or other persons … subjects him to suspension or revocation of license. 

My next concern for my family is if they, or I could be in need of emergency services at 
any given time at our residence or my place of business, what will be the action of this 
individual?  Will his erratic decisions put our loved ones in jeopardy or not given the 
proper care and treatment, or our homes or business burn at the hands of this incapable or 
reckless EMT/First Responder? 

Thank you for your time.” 

Council Agenda Item #5:  Minutes 

a.  Regular City Council meeting – April 24, 2023 

b.  Regular City Council meeting – May 8, 2023 

3



May 22, 2023 
23-11 Pg. 3 

Councilor Bagley suggested editing page 6 of the packet to change “BIG Final accounting” to 
“BIG engineering Study”.  He also suggested correcting the votes on both Agenda Item #13 & 14 
for Mayor Smiths votes to be reflected as yes rather than no. 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the minutes as 
amended.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Absent, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #6:  Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

a.  Retirement of Ken Murchison 

Manager Thompson explained that Mr. Murchison was born and raised in Caribou and is a graduate 
of Caribou High School.  His first position in city government was in 2011 with an appointment 
to the Caribou Planning board.  He began serving on the Caribou City Council in 2002 including 
serving as Mayor for Caribou’s Sesquicentennial year, 2009.  By the time he had finished his 
Council service in 2013, he had been elected, appointed, and even elected as a write-in candidate.   

In his time, Caribou built the new Wellness and Recreation Center and the Caribou Connector.  Mr. 
Murchison has been a part of Aroostook Waste Solutions, formerly the Tri-Community Landfill, 
for many years and has agreed to continue his appointment to that board at the pleasure of the City 
Council.   

In 2018, Mr. Murchison was hired by former City Manager Dennis Marker to serve as the City of 
Caribou Code Enforcement Officer / Zoning Administrator and staff support to the Caribou 
Planning Board.  During these five years, the City developed the blight toolkit and has 
implemented several strategies to reduce blight in the community, established the Caribou 
Riverfront Renaissance and Age-Friendly Caribou committees, passed several amendments to 
chapter thirteen, and brought his GIS knowledge to Caribou and advocated for updated 
orthoimagery files to assist with planning and zoning.   

We thank Mr. Murchison for his service to the department and wish him well as he starts his next 
adventure in retirement. We are having an open house on Ken’s last day, Thursday, May 25th from 
2 to 4 pm here in the Caribou City Council chambers.   

Mayor Smith presented Ken with a token of appreciation thanking him for his service.   

Mr. Murchison stated that it has been an honor serve the city over the years in different ways.  He 
explained that enjoyed working with people and seeing results from the different undertakings.   

Council thanked Ken for his time and applauded him for his retirement.  

b.  Appointment of Kristina Drinkall as a Deputy City Clerk 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to appoint Kristina Drinkall 
as a Deputy City clerk for the ensuing year.   

4



May 22, 2023 
23-11 Pg. 4 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Absent, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, (So voted) 

c.  Appointment of Health Officer for a 3-year term – Brian Lajoie 

Mayor Smith explained that in January, Scott Susi was appointed to act as the Health Officer for 
the City of Caribou for a 3-year term ending 12/31/2025.  Mr. Susi left his city employment and 
so the City needs to appoint someone to fill the remainder of the appointment term.   

The Fire Chief has traditionally been appointed to fill this position.  Mr. Brian Lajoie has been 
named the new Chief of the Caribou Fire and Ambulance Department and is recommended to also 
be appointed as the Health Officer.  

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Boma, seconded by Councilor Morrill to approve Brian Lajoie as 
the Caribou Health Officer as required by state statute for a 3-year term ending 12/31/2025.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Absent, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, (So voted) 

d.  Appointment of members to the Nylander Museum Board of Trustees 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the recommendation 
from the Library director for appointments to the Nylander Board.  

Travis Michaud (3-year), Christina Kane-Gibson (3-year), Betheny C. Anderson (2-year), Jason 
Gillis (2-year), and Romeo Parent (1-year).   

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Absent, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Abstain (So voted) 

e.  Discussion and possible action regarding the Caribou Development Committee 

 i.  Member from the Caribou City Council – Daniel Bagley 

 ii.  Member from the Planning Board – David Corriveau 

 iii.  Member from the Caribou Economic Growth Council – Lydia Kieffer-Till  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to have a public hearing on 
June 26th to discuss changes to Chapter 22.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – No, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Absent, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – No, L. Willey – No, J. Smith – No (Motion Failed) 

Motion made by Councilor Bagley, seconded by Mayor Smith to appoint Gary Marquis and 
Christina Kane-Gibson for 3-year terms, Troy Haney and James Nelson for 2-year terms, and 
Justin Staples for a 1-year term to the Caribou Development Committee.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Absent, J. Morrill – No, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes (So Voted) 

5



May 22, 2023 
23-11 Pg. 5 

Motion made by Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Willey to appoint Councilor Dan Bagley to 
the Caribou Development Committee as the Council representative. 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Absent, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes (So Voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Willey to confirm the appointments 
of David Corriveau from Planning Board and Lydia Kieffer-Till from the Caribou Economic 
Development Committee as members of the Caribou Development Committee.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Absent, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes (So Voted) 

Council Agenda Item #7:  Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

a.  Public Hearing – Zoning Change Request Map 7 Lot 26, I-2 to R-3 

Open Public Hearing: 6:26 p.m.  

Ken Murchison (CEO/Zoning Administrator) explained that the purpose of the public hearing is 
to rezone 201 York Street from Industrial to Residential.   

Deputy Mayor Boma asked if making the changes would interfere or have an impact on the trail 
system.  

Mr. Murchison stated that it would not have any impact on the trail system.  

John Lajoie, property owner of 201 York Street 

Mr. Lajoie explained that they have 34 acers and would like to have the property rezoned because 
his son would like to build a house on the land. 

Councilor Willey asked Mr. Lajoie if he was only planning on building one house on the property.  

Mr. Lajoie stated that one for sure with a possibility of two.   

Closed Public Hearing: 6:30 p.m.  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to rezone the property at 201 
York Street, Map 7 Lot 26 from I-2 (Industrial) to R-3 (Rural Residential). 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Absent, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes (So Voted) 

Council Agenda Item #8:  Reports by Staff and Committees 

a. April 2023 Financials – Finance Director 

Carl Grant (Finance Director) reviewed the April 2023 Financial report.   

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the April 2023 
Finance report as presented.  

6



May 22, 2023 
23-11 Pg. 6 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Absent, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes (So Voted) 

b.  Code Enforcement Officer report on dangerous buildings 

Ken Murchison (CEO/Zoning Administrator) explained that there are a number of properties that 
need attention.  He explained that the dangerous building process should be started to try to 
remediate the issues at the different locations.   

7 Water Street: There is a hole in the ground where there once stood a building that had recently 
burned.    

24 Park Street: is owned by a mortgage company, the company stated that they encourage the city 
to secure the location and send a bill.  

375 Belanger Road:  The location is a Tax Acquired property, there are several tires and different 
violations at the property, and he suggests starting the eviction process for the people that are living 
there.  

Council suggested that seeking assistance from Legal regarding 375 Belanger Road.  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Mayor Smith to set a public hearing for June 26, 
2023 for the properties at 7 Water Street and 24 Park Street.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Absent, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes (So Voted) 

c.  City Manager’s Report 

Manager Thompson reviewed the City Manager’s Report dated May 22, 2023 

Council Agenda Item #9:  New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Authorization of MOU with IAFF Local 5191 

Councilor Bagley asked if using an MOU was the proper way to make the changes.  

Councilor Willey stated that this is a legal way of making the changes.  

Manager Thompson explained that it is the best way because they do not want to reopen the entire 
contract for negotiation.  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to approve the 
Memorandum of Understanding as presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – No, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Absent, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – No (So Voted) 

b.  Authorization of MOU with Nurture by Nature (Community Garden) 

Gary Marquis explained that the MOU between the City and Nurture by Nature.  He explained 
that Nurture by Nature is going to have a small area and the rest of the area will be a community 

7



May 22, 2023 
23-11 Pg. 7 

garden area.  On the area for Nurture by Nature they are going to have a gazebo and raised beds.  
They have been working on getting donations to get this to take place.   

The recent information that has been found is that the area would require rent to be paid to the City 
because of FAA regulations.  Fair Market rent for garden/ tillable land goes from $75.00 to $175 
per acer.   

Councilor Willey asked if building a gazebo would work with the FAA Regulations.   

Mr. Marquis stated that the gazebo is not going to be a very tall structure and that it would be open 
aired, the trees around the area are taller than the structure would be.   

Councilor Morrill asked if the area would be lit at night.   

Mr. Marquis explained that they plan to clean up some of the poles, but that there will be power to 
the park.  They are not planning on lighting the area.  He explained that he is working with Public 
Works on the water situation.   

He stated that if everything gets approved tonight that he would be able to begin working and 
making progress on the project and that the open house is coming up very soon on June 28th.  

Laura Bagley of Nurture by Nature 

Ms. Bagley explained that back in August of 2022 she reached out to share her plans for the project.  
She stated that it has been a collaborative effort between herself and the City and they have 
received a great response.  Her plan with the space that she has is to help to bring the joy of 
interacting with nature and nature-based groups around the community.  She explained that there 
is a practice called therapeutic horticulture in which a person uses plants and plant related activities 
to improve wellness.  Gardening has several different benefits from physical, social, emotional, 
and cognitive.   

She explained that regarding the comments to the MOA would be difficult to work on this with a 
yearly contract and that it would be more reasonable to work on a two- or three-year contract 
giving her the time to apply for funding and grants to help for the community garden space.  

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to approve the agreement 
with the amendments included pending more information about liability insurance.  

Councilor Theriault asked if the liability insurance for the City could name Nurture by Nature as 
an additional insured.   

Manager Thompson explained that MMA has already stated that Nurture by Nature would need to 
carry their own liability insurance.   

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Abstain, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Absent, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes (So Voted) 

c.  Authorization for City Manager to sign contracts related to airport apron project 

8



May 22, 2023 
23-11 Pg. 8 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to authorize City Manager 
Penny Thompson to execute the needed contracts and documents for the Caribou Municipal 
Airport apron project.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Absent, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes (So Voted) 

d.  Resolution for Northern Border Regional Commission grant application 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Boma, seconded by Councilor Theriault to approve Resolution 
05-01-2023 which will authorize Caribou City Manager Penny Thompson to make and sign the 
Northern Border Regional Commission (NBRC) Catalyst Program application, and should the 
project be selected for funding all NBRC investment documents that bind the applicant.  This 
resolution of the Caribou City Council formally authorizes Penny Thompson, The Caribou City 
Manager, to apply for, receive and spend funding on behalf of the City of Caribou.   

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Absent, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes (So Voted) 

e.  2023 Spirit of America nominees 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to approve the 
nominations of Gary Cook and Keith Brown as Spirit of America recipients from the City of 
Caribou for the year 2023. 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Absent, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes (So Voted) 

Council Agenda Item #10:  Old Business 

There were no items scheduled for discussion.  

Council Agenda Item #11:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Councilor Bagley provided an update regarding the broadband report that he has received.  He 
stated that he has received the final accounting from Business Investment Group and he will email 
it to all of the Council.   

He also stated that in the past there had been discussions about land bank here in Caribou.  
Councilor Bagley explained that he has been talking to Mr. Haney from the Business Investment 
Group, regarding what such a program might look brainstorming ideas about laying out a project 
template and continue exploring some different ideas. 

Councilor Morrill extended his gratitude to the EMS workers in the community as it is National 
EMS week.   

Councilor Willey stated that the library’s annual plant sale will be held on June 10th in the Caribou 
Room.   

Council Agenda Item #12:  Next Regular Meetings: June 26, July 24 

9



May 22, 2023 
23-11 Pg. 9 

Council Agenda Item #13:  Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified 
under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6)  

The council did not enter executive into session.   

Council Agenda Item #14:  Adjournment  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to adjourn the meeting at 
7:23 p.m. 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Absent, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes (So Voted) 

 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

 

10



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   June 26, 2023 
Re:   Introduction of the new owners of Bechard’s Grill: John & Rae Rossignol  

  

When Richard and Sandy Bechard relocated their restaurant into Caribou’s Skyway Plaza, it was 
popular, and they quickly expanded. When the time came to write a new chapter in their lives, they 
offered their successful business for sale. Their buyer was nearer than they could imagine when 
their ‘close cousins’ John and Rae Rossignol stepped in to operate the business. They will keep 
the recognizable Bechard’s name as the name has significance to the new owners as well. 

We have asked John and Rae Rossignol to stop by tonight as we offer our very best wishes for the 
continued success of Bechard’s Grill in Skyway Plaza. They will be closed for a short time to 
transition but we hope everyone can stop by after they reopen on July 10th. 

 

  

11



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   June 26, 2023 
Re:   Introduction of the new owners of Big Bang Theater: Michael and Pat Cyr  

  

The Caribou Movie Theater has been a staple on Sweden Street for many years. On June 1, Dow 
Theater Company sold the theater to Mike’s Family Market, LLC.  They are open now and have 
participated in the June 1 Thursdays on Sweden Street with ax throwing!  

Mr. and Mrs. Cyr are residents of Caribou and currently own two other businesses here in Caribou, 
Mike’s Quik Stop and Deli at 907 Presque Isle Road and First Choice Market and Deli at 342 
Sweden Street.  

We have asked Michael & Pat Cyr to stop by tonight as we offer our very best wishes for the 
continued success of Big Bang Theater.  

 

  

12



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   June 26, 2023 
Re:   Birthday Greetings for Caribou’s Boston Post Cane holder, Anna Marie Roberts  

  

On July 5, 2023, Anna Marie Roberts will be 106 years young. Mrs. Roberts is Caribou’s oldest 
citizen and the holder of the Boston Post Cane. 

The City would like to send their best wishes for a very happy birthday. 

  

13



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   June 26, 2023 
Re:   Recognition of Caribou Rehab and Nursing Center for Fifty Years 

  

In May 1973, the Caribou Nursing Home opened with 60 beds and now, fifty years later, the 
Caribou Rehab and Nursing Center is still providing quality care here in Caribou with 67 beds and 
128 employees. Phil Cyr has provided us with a brief history of the business on the next page. 

We have asked Phil Cyr to stop by tonight as we offer our very best wishes for the continued 
success of the Caribou Rehab and Nursing Center.  

 

14



 
 

 
 
 
 

“Our Service Says We Care” 
 

 
 

Caribou Rehab & Nursing Center 
 

10 Bernadette Street · Caribou, ME  04736 · 207-498-3102 · fax 207-493-7828 
 
 

 
 
 

Brief History of Caribou Rehab and Nursing Center 
Provided by: Phil Cyr 

 
Caribou Nursing Home was built in the winter of 1972 -73 by Albert Cyr (Phil’s 
father), a potato farmer from Hamlin, just outside Van Buren.  The Nursing home 
opened in May of 1973 with 60 beds.  In 1975, the home was expanded to 106 
beds. Then in 1984 another 4 were added totaling 110 beds.  Changes in who the 
state would pay for in 1993 caused a gradual decline bringing the facility to 67 
beds today.  In 2005 the name was changed to Caribou Rehab and Nursing 
Center to announce the new service of providing rehabilitation services for people 
with new joints or other medical issues. 
 
At its peak of 110 beds, Caribou Rehab employed 140 staff.  Today they have 128 
and are looking for another 5 CNAs, which are in short supply. Caribou Rehab has 
serviced approximately 3700 residents in its 50-year history.  In 2008, the federal 
government came out with a 5-star rating system.  Eight years later in 2016, 
Caribou Rehab was the ONLY facility in all of Maine that had never lost its 5-star 
rating.  In the past 15 years Caribou Rehab has lost the 5-star rating for a couple 
brief periods but remains the number one facility in Maine that has held the 5-star 
rating longer than any other Maine nursing facility. 

15



 

 

 

Resolution of congratulations, gratitude, and appreciation to  
Caribou Rehab and Nursing Center 

 for Fifty Years of devoted service 
 to the citizens of Caribou 

 
WHEREAS The City Council is the legal authority for the City of Caribou, and, 
 
WHEREAS, Caribou Rehab and Nursing Center has provided devoted service to the citizens of Caribou for 
fifty years, and,  
 
WHEREAS, Caribou Rehab and Nursing Center has provided meaningful employment through good-paying 
jobs while providing that care, and,  
 
WHEREAS, Caribou Rehab and Nursing Center has consistently earned a 5-star federal rating and remains 
the top Maine facility by holding this 5-star rating longer than any other Maine facility, and,  
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY, THE CARIBOU CITY COUNCIL, that the City of 
Caribou recognizes fifty years of devoted service by Caribou Rehab and Nursing Center and extends 
congratulations and appreciation to Caribou Rehab and Nursing Center on behalf of the City of Caribou. 

 
This resolution was duly passed and approved by a majority of the City Council of the City of Caribou this 
26rd day of June, 2023.  
 
 
_____________________________________  __________________________________ 
 
 
_____________________________________  __________________________________ 
 
 
_____________________________________  __________________________________ 
 
 
_____________________________________  __________________________________ 
Jody R. Smith, Mayor                 Attest: Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 
 

[City Seal]    

16



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   June 26, 2023 
Re:   City of Caribou Spirit of America honorees: Gary Cook & Keith Brown  

  

The Maine Spirit of America Foundation became incorporated with the State of Maine on October 
16, 1990, as a 501 (c) (3) to establish a town volunteer recognition program. Every year the Spirit 
of America Foundation Tribute is presented in the name of 100+ Maine municipalities.  
 
In years past, the City of Caribou has selected honorees for the Maine Spirit of America Foundation 
tribute. The criteria for the award is set by the municipality but should be a local person, group or 
project that is chosen for commendable community service. The Caribou City Council selects the 
tribute winner and presents the individual or group with a resolution. 
 
The 2023 privilege granted to Maine municipalities to choose Spirit of America Foundation 
Tribute winners expires on June 30. 
 
At the April 24 Caribou City Council meeting, a memo was provided to remind citizens of the 
award and the opportunity to nominate someone for the honor. At the May 22 Caribou City Council 
meeting, a memo announced the following nominations which were confirmed by the Caribou 
City Council: 
 

Gary Cook of Caribou for his volunteer work in the Caribou United Baptist Church food pantry. 

Keith Brown of Caribou for his volunteer work on the Caribou recreational trails. 

 

Mr. Cook and Mr. Brown are here tonight. 

  

17



 
 

2023 City of Caribou 
Spirit of America Foundation Tribute 

honors 

Gary Cook 
for commendable community service. 

 
Mr. Cook’s name was brought forward by Deputy Tax Collector / Finance 

Assistant Denise Lausier. Gary Cook has provided many hours of volunteer service 
working in the food pantry at the Caribou United Baptist Church. The pantry was 

started in about 1996 when Francis Kirkpatrick of the CUBC Home Interest 
Committee said, “We can do better.” After all these years, Mr. Cook says that the 

work has been done by a “small crew but a good crew” and he says that they “must 
have been called” to do this work and that the “power comes from the Lord”. 

We thank him for his dedication to the citizens of Caribou. 
 

Therefore, be it resolved by the Caribou City Council, in sincere gratitude and 
appreciation, that Gary Cook is hereby recognized for his exemplary citizenship 

with the 2023 City of Caribou Spirit of America Foundation Tribute. 
 

Dated June 26, 2023 
  

18



 

 
 

2023 City of Caribou 
Spirit of America Foundation Tribute 

honors 

Keith Brown 
for commendable community service. 

 
Mr. Brown’s name was brought forward by Caribou Parks & Recreation 

Superintendent Gary Marquis. Keith Brown has provided many hours of volunteer 
service working on the recreational trails and is a champion for the outdoor tourism 

economy. We thank him for his dedication to the citizens of Caribou. 
 

Therefore, be it resolved by the Caribou City Council, in sincere gratitude and 
appreciation, that Keith Brown is hereby recognized for his exemplary citizenship 

with the 2023 City of Caribou Spirit of America Foundation Tribute. 
 
 

Dated June 26, 2023 
 

 

19



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   June 26, 2023 
Re:   Dangerous Building Public Hearing at 7 Water Street, Map 31 Lot 171  

  

At the May 22, 2023, Caribou City Council meeting, a public hearing was set to determine if the 
structure at 7 Water Street is a dangerous building / structure. 
 
The public hearing will be held tonight. 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
If it is determined that 7 Water Street is a dangerous building / structure, please sign the Notice of 
Hearing which will be the next step in the process. 
 
  

20



7 Water Street ~ Caribou, Maine 
Dangerous Building Timeline 

January 25, 2023: Fatal fire at 7 Water Street, Caribou 

February 13, 2023: Legal Notice of Condemned Building sent 

March 13, 2023: Legal Notice, Second Notice of Condemned Building sent 

April 4, 2023:  Discharge of mortgage from Norstate Federal Credit Union, Book 6431 Page 17 

April 24, 2023:  Legal Notice, Final Notice of Condemned Building sent 

May 15, 2023:  Owners, Brian & Sharon Bickford filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy 

May 22, 2023: CEO presented 7 Water Street as a dangerous building and requested that a 
public hearing be set for June 26, 2023  

May 26, 2023: Tax Lien Certificate for 2022, Book 6447 Page 192 

NOTE: Tax Lien Certificate for 2021, Book 6322 Page 343 

 

Next Steps 
June 26, 2023:  Public Hearing will be held as scheduled 

If warranted, Hearing Notices will be signed 

June 2023:  Hearing notices will be recorded at Southern Registry of Deeds 

   Formal letters to be sent to owner (Bickford) and party-in-interest (CEGC) 

   Informal notice with NOV from building official notifying of impending action 

July 2023:  Notice of Hearing to be published in the Aroostook Republican (7/5, 7/12) 

   Council set hearing date of July 24, 2023 

   Public Hearing to determine if 7 Water Street is a dangerous building 

   If yes, Findings and Order to be signed by Council 

August 2023:  Findings and Order served upon owner & parties in interest (per statute) 

   Staff will properly address any abandoned property (per statute) 

   Findings and Order recorded at Southern Registry of Deeds (per statute) 

21



NOTICE OF HEARING Pursuant to 17 M.R.S.A. § § 2851-2859 (Dangerous Buildings) 

 TO:  Brian and Sharon Bickford 
 76 Tourmaline Drive 
 Lewiston ME 04240 
 
You are hereby notified that the Municipal Officers of the City of Caribou, Maine will hold a hearing on 
July 24, 2023 at 6:00 pm at 25 High Street in the City Council Chambers to determine whether the remains 
of the building and land owned by Brian and Sharon Bickford and shown on Map 31, Lot 171 of the current 
Tax Maps of the City of Caribou, Maine on file at 25 High Street, is a nuisance or dangerous building within 
the meaning of 17 M.R.S.A. § 2851. If the Municipal Officers find that the building is a nuisance or 
dangerous, they may order appropriate corrective action, including but not limited to demolition and 
removal of the building. If their order is not complied with by the deadline stated in their order and no 
appeal is taken, the Municipal Officers may take the corrective action at municipal expense and recover 
all expenses, including reasonable attorney’s fees, by means of a special tax or civil action. This hearing is 
your opportunity to present evidence as to why the building is not a nuisance or dangerous and to oppose 
any corrective action ordered by the Municipal Officers.  

Witness our hand and seals this 26th day of June 2023, the Municipal Officers City of Caribou, Maine 

________________________________    _______________________________ 
Daniel Bagley       Courtney Boma 
 
________________________________    _______________________________ 
R. Mark Goughan      John Morrill 
 
________________________________    _______________________________ 
Joan Theriault       Louella Willey 
 
________________________________     
Jody Smith        

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

STATE OF MAINE      Date: June 26, 2023 
County of Aroostook 
 
Then personally appeared before me the above-named Municipal Officers of the Municipality of Caribou 
and acknowledged the foregoing to be their free act and deed in their said capacity and the free act and 
deed of the Inhabitants of the said Municipality. 

Before me, 
 
_________________________________________ 
Signature of Notary Public 
Danielle M. Brissette 
My commission expires: March 12, 2026 

22



Sale Data

Map Lot 031-171 Account 3213 Location Card 1 Of 1 6/23/2023
BICKFORD, BRIAN
BICKFORD, SHARON
76 TOURMALINE DRIVE
LEWISTON ME 04240

B4187P140

Inspection Witnessed By:

X Date

Notes:

7 WATER STREET
Property Data Assessment Record

Neighborhood 4 4

Tree Growth Year 0
X Coordinate 0
Y Coordinate 0
Zone/Land Use 21 Commercial

Secondary Zone

Topography 2 Rolling

1.Level
2.Rolling
3.Above St

8.
9.

7.LevelBog4.Below St
5.Low
6.Swampy

Utilities 2 Public Water

1.Public
2.Water
3.Sewer

8.Holding Ta
9.None

7.Septic4.Dr Well
5.Dug Well
6.Shared Wel

3 Public Sewer

Street 1 Paved

1.Paved
2.Semi Imp
3.Gravel

8.
9.None

7.4.Proposed
5.R/O/W
6.

TG PLAN YEAR 0
ACTION NEEDED 0

Sale Date
Price
Sale Type

1.Land
2.L & B
3.Building

8.
9.

7.C/I L&B4.Mobile
5.Other
6.C/I Land

Financing
1.Convent
2.FHA/VA
3.Assumed

8.
9.Unknown

7.4.Seller
5.Private
6.Cash

Validity
1.Valid
2.Related
3.Distress

8.Other
9.TO UPDATE

7.Renovate4.Split
5.Partial
6.Exempt

Verified
1.Buyer
2.Seller
3.Lender

8.Other
9.

7.Family4.Agent
5.Pub Rec
6.MLS

Year Land Buildings Exempt Total

Land Data
Front Foot Influence

Codes11.
12.
13.
14.
15.

InfluenceEffectiveType Frontage Depth Factor Code
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

Square Feet
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

Acreage/Sites
0.0622 100 % 0
1.0044 50 % 0

%
%
%
%
%

16.Lindley Estate
17.
18.
19.
20.

Square Foot

1.Use
2.R/W
3.Topography
4.Size/Shape
5.Access
6.Restriction
7.Vacancy
8.Semi-Improved
9.Fract  Share

21.House Lot (Fra
22.Baselot (Fract
23.

Fract. Acre

Acres
24.Houselot
25.Baselot
26.Lindley Estate
27.
28.Rear Land 1
29.Rear Land 2

Acres
30.Rear Land 3
31.Rear Land 4
32.Dominant Easem
33.Servient Easem
34.Tillable
35.Pasture
36.Orchard
37.Softwood TG
38.Mixed Wood TG
39.Hardwood TG
40.Wasteland
41.Gravel Pit
42.Mobile Home Ho
43.
44.Lot Improvemen

Caribou

No./Date Description Date Insp.

2010
2011
2012
2013
2014

2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

2015

4,900
4,900

11,300
11,300
11,300
11,300
11,300
11,300
11,300
11,300
11,300
11,300
11,300
13,100

65,700
65,700
79,400
79,400
79,400
79,400
79,400
79,400
79,400
79,400
79,400
79,400
79,400

0

0
0
0

10,000
10,000
10,000
15,000
20,000
20,000
20,000
25,000

0
0
0

70,600
70,600
90,700
80,700
80,700

75,700
70,700
70,700
70,700
65,700
90,700
90,700
13,100

80,700

45.Mobile Home Pa
46.Golf Course pe

Total Acreage 0.06 23



Map Lot 031-171 Account 3213 Location Card 1 Of 1 6/23/20237 WATER STREET
Caribou

1.One Story Fram
2.Two Story Fram
3.Three Story Fr
4.1 & 1/2 Story 
5.1 & 3/4 Story 
6.2 & 1/2 Story 
21.Open Frame Por
22.Encl Frame Por
23.Frame Garage
24.Frame Shed
25.Finished 1/2 S
26.1SFr Overhang
27.Unfin Basement
28.Unfinished Att
29.Finished Attic

Additions, Outbuildings & Improvements
Type Year Units Grade Cond Phys. Funct. Sound Value

%%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

Building Style
1.Conv.   
2.Ranch
3.R Ranch

10.Log
11.Other

9.Condo5.Colonial
6.Split
7.Contemp

SF Bsmt Living Layout
1.Typical
2.Inadeq
3.

8.
9.

7.4.
5.
6.

Dwelling Units
Other Units
Stories
1.1
2.2
3.3

8.4
9.

7.3.504.1.5
5.1.75
6.2.5

Exterior Walls

Roof Surface
1.Asphalt
2.Slate
3.Metal

8.
9.

7.4.Composit
5.Wood
6.Rolled R

SF Masonry Trim
OPEN-3-CUSTOM
OPEN-4-CUSTOM
Year Built
Year Remodeled
Foundation
1.Concrete
2.C Block
3.Br/Stone

8.
9.

7.ICF4.Wood
5.Slab
6.Piers

Basement
1.1/4 Bmt
2.1/2 Bmt
3.3/4 Bmt

8.
9.None

7.4.Full Bmt
5.Crawl Sp
6.

Bsmt Gar # Cars

Fin Bsmt Grade
OPEN 5 OPTIONAL 
Heat Type
1.HWBB    
2.HWCI    
3.H Pump 7.Electric

8.Fl/Wall

9.No Heat

4.Radiant

10.
5.FWA     

Cool Type
1.Refrig
2.Evapor
3.H Pump 6.

7.
8.

4.W&C Air

9.None
5.

Kitchen Style
1.Modern
2.Typical
3.Old Type 6.

7.
8.

4.Obsolete

9.None
5.

Wet Basement
1.Dry
2.Damp
3.Wet

8.
9.

7.4.Dirt
5.
6.

Bath(s) Style
1.Modern
2.Typical
3.Old Type 6.

7.
8.

4.Obsolete

9.None
5.

# Rooms
# Bedrooms
# Full Baths
# Half Baths
# Addn Fixtures
# Fireplaces

Attic
1.1/4 Fin
2.1/2 Fin
3.3/4 Fin

8.
9.None

7.4.Full Fin
5.Fl/Stair
6.

Insulation
1.Full
2.Heavy
3.Capped

8.
9.None

7.4.Minimal
5.Partial
6.

Unfinished %
Grade & Factor
1.E Grade
2.D Grade
3.C Grade

8.MS Grade
9.Same

7.AAA Grad4.B Grade
5.A Grade
6.AA Grade

SQFT (Footprint)
Condition
1.Poor
2.Fair
3.Avg-

8.Exc
9.Same

7.V G4.Avg
5.Avg+
6.Good

Phys. % Good
Funct. % Good
Functional Code
1.Incomp
2.O-Built
3.Style

8.Frac Sha
9.None

7.4.Plb/Heat
5.
6.

Econ. % Good
Economic Code
0.None
1.Location
2.Encroach

8.
9.

7.3.No Power
4.Generate
9.None

Entrance Code
1.Interior
2.Refusal
3.Informed

8.Exsist R
9.

7.4.Vacant
5.Estimate
6.Hanger

Information Code
1.Owner
2.Relative
3.Tenant

8.Exist  R
9.For Sale

7.Vacant4.Agent
5.Estimate
6.OtherDate Inspected

11.

4.Cape 12.Gambrel8.Cottage

1.Wood    
2.Vinyl
3.Compos. 

10.Alum
11.Log

9.Other   5.Shingles
6.Brick
7.Single

4.Asbestos 12.Stone8.Concrete

6.GravWA  

12.

9/29/2011

0 

0
0
0

0 

0

0
0
0
0
0

0

0

0
0

0

0

0

0%
0 0%

0
0

0%
100%
9 None

100%
None

5 Estimated

5 Estimate

0
0  0

0 

9 None

0

0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
100%

0%

24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   June 26, 2023 
Re:   Dangerous Building Public Hearing at 24 Park Street, Map 35 Lot 73  

  

At the May 22, 2023, Caribou City Council meeting, a public hearing was set to determine if the 
structure at 24 Park Street is a dangerous building / structure. 
 
The public hearing will be held tonight. 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
If it is determined that 24 Park Street is a dangerous building / structure, please sign the Notice of 
Hearing which will be the next step in the process. 
 
  

53



24 Park Street ~ Caribou, Maine 
Dangerous Building Timeline 

June 18, 2010: Received letter from Doonan, Graves & Longoria, regarding impending 
foreclosure by Deutsche Bank NA et al vs. Mueller 

July 23, 2010:  Legal Notice of Violation sent to Jeffrey & Laurie Mueller 

August 8, 2012:  Date of Death, Jeffrey Mueller JTROS with Laurie Mueller 

June 21, 2013:  Complaint for Foreclosure by Civil Action, Book 5197 Page 130 

July 3, 2014:   Legal Notice of Violation sent to Laurie Mueller 

June 6, 2017:  Legal Notice of Violation sent to Laurie Mueller 

April 23, 2019:  Legal Notice of Violation sent to Laurie Mueller 

May 20, 2019:  Email from Laurie Mueller to CEO Murchison (does not believe is responsible) 

November 3, 2020: Certificate of Vacancy and Inspection Affidavit for Mr. Cooper Property 
Preservation 

May 14, 2021: Legal Notice of Violation sent to Laurie Mueller 

August 18, 2021: Affidavit of Vacant / Abandoned Property for Frederick’s Property Preservation 
& Inspections 

May 10, 2022: Final Notice of Violation Nuisance / Dangerous Property 

May 22, 2023: CEO presented 24 Park Street as a dangerous building and requested that a 
public hearing be set for June 26, 2023  

June 15, 2023: Mortgage discharged Book 6456 Page 268 

 

Next Steps 
June 26, 2023:  Public Hearing will be held as scheduled 

If warranted, Hearing Notices will be signed 

June 2023:  Hearing notices will be recorded at Southern Registry of Deeds 

   Formal letters to be sent to owner (Mueller) 

   Informal notice with NOV from building official notifying of impending action 

July 2023:  Notice of Hearing to be published in the Aroostook Republican (7/5, 7/12) 

   Page 1 of 2 

54



Council set hearing date of July 24, 2023 

   Public Hearing to determine if 24 Park Street is a dangerous building 

   If yes, Findings and Order to be signed by Council 

August 2023:  Findings and Order served upon owner & parties in interest (per statute) 

   Staff will properly address any abandoned property (per statute) 

   Findings and Order recorded at Southern Registry of Deeds (per statute) 

55



NOTICE OF HEARING Pursuant to 17 M.R.S.A. § § 2851-2859 (Dangerous Buildings) 

 TO:  Laurie Mueller 
 5 Mulberry Drive 
 Presque Isle ME 04769 
 
You are hereby notified that the Municipal Officers of the City of Caribou, Maine will hold a hearing on 
July 24, 2023 at 6:00 pm at 25 High Street in the City Council Chambers to determine whether the remains 
of the building and land owned by Laurie A. Mueller and shown on Map 35, Lot 73 of the current Tax Maps 
of the City of Caribou, Maine on file at 25 High Street, is a nuisance or dangerous building within the 
meaning of 17 M.R.S.A. § 2851. If the Municipal Officers find that the building is a nuisance or dangerous, 
they may order appropriate corrective action, including but not limited to demolition and removal of the 
building. If their order is not complied with by the deadline stated in their order and no appeal is taken, 
the Municipal Officers may take the corrective action at municipal expense and recover all expenses, 
including reasonable attorney’s fees, by means of a special tax or civil action. This hearing is your 
opportunity to present evidence as to why the building is not a nuisance or dangerous and to oppose any 
corrective action ordered by the Municipal Officers.  

Witness our hand and seals this 26th day of June 2023, the Municipal Officers City of Caribou, Maine 

________________________________    _______________________________ 
Daniel Bagley       Courtney Boma 
 
________________________________    _______________________________ 
R. Mark Goughan      John Morrill 
 
________________________________    _______________________________ 
Joan Theriault       Louella Willey 
 
________________________________     
Jody Smith        

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

STATE OF MAINE      Date: June 26, 2023 
County of Aroostook 
 
Then personally appeared before me the above-named Municipal Officers of the Municipality of Caribou 
and acknowledged the foregoing to be their free act and deed in their said capacity and the free act and 
deed of the Inhabitants of the said Municipality. 

Before me, 
 
_________________________________________ 
Signature of Notary Public 
Danielle M. Brissette 
My commission expires: March 12, 2026 

56



Sale Data

Map Lot 035-073 Account 4681 Location Card 1 Of 1 6/23/2023
MUELLER, LAURIE A
22 EDGEMONT DRIVE
PRESQUE ISLE ME 04769

B3836P217 B4271P94 B5197P130 B6219P270 B6224P302
Previous Owner
MUELLER, JEFFREY W. AND LAURIE A.
71 MAIN STREET, APT 1
PRESQUE ISLE ME 04769
Sale Date: 8/08/2012

Inspection Witnessed By:

X Date

Notes:

24 PARK STREET
Property Data Assessment Record

Neighborhood 41 41

Tree Growth Year 0
X Coordinate 0
Y Coordinate 0
Zone/Land Use 11 Residential

Secondary Zone

Topography 2 Rolling

1.Level
2.Rolling
3.Above St

8.
9.

7.LevelBog4.Below St
5.Low
6.Swampy

Utilities 2 Public Water

1.Public
2.Water
3.Sewer

8.Holding Ta
9.None

7.Septic4.Dr Well
5.Dug Well
6.Shared Wel

3 Public Sewer

Street 1 Paved

1.Paved
2.Semi Imp
3.Gravel

8.
9.None

7.4.Proposed
5.R/O/W
6.

TG PLAN YEAR 0
ACTION NEEDED 0

Sale Date
Price
Sale Type

1.Land
2.L & B
3.Building

8.
9.

7.C/I L&B4.Mobile
5.Other
6.C/I Land

Financing
1.Convent
2.FHA/VA
3.Assumed

8.
9.Unknown

7.4.Seller
5.Private
6.Cash

Validity
1.Valid
2.Related
3.Distress

8.Other
9.TO UPDATE

7.Renovate4.Split
5.Partial
6.Exempt

Verified
1.Buyer
2.Seller
3.Lender

8.Other
9.

7.Family4.Agent
5.Pub Rec
6.MLS

Year Land Buildings Exempt Total

Land Data
Front Foot Influence

Codes11.
12.
13.
14.
15.

InfluenceEffectiveType Frontage Depth Factor Code
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

Square Feet
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

Acreage/Sites
0.2521 100 % 0
0.4528 100 % 0
1.0044 50 % 0

%
%
%
%

16.Lindley Estate
17.
18.
19.
20.

Square Foot

1.Use
2.R/W
3.Topography
4.Size/Shape
5.Access
6.Restriction
7.Vacancy
8.Semi-Improved
9.Fract  Share

21.House Lot (Fra
22.Baselot (Fract
23.

Fract. Acre

Acres
24.Houselot
25.Baselot
26.Lindley Estate
27.
28.Rear Land 1
29.Rear Land 2

Acres
30.Rear Land 3
31.Rear Land 4
32.Dominant Easem
33.Servient Easem
34.Tillable
35.Pasture
36.Orchard
37.Softwood TG
38.Mixed Wood TG
39.Hardwood TG
40.Wasteland
41.Gravel Pit
42.Mobile Home Ho
43.
44.Lot Improvemen

Caribou

No./Date Description Date Insp.

2010
2011
2012
2013
2014

2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

2015

12,600
12,600
14,800
14,800
14,800
14,800
14,800
14,800
14,800
14,800
14,800
14,800
14,800
17,000

59,000
59,000
56,700
56,700
56,700
56,700
56,700
56,700
56,700
56,700
56,700
56,700
56,700
97,200

8,500
8,300

10,000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

63,100
63,300
61,500
71,500
71,500

71,500
71,500
71,500
71,500
71,500
71,500
71,500

114,200

71,500

45.Mobile Home Pa
46.Golf Course pe

Total Acreage 0.70 57



Map Lot 035-073 Account 4681 Location Card 1 Of 1 6/23/202324 PARK STREET
Caribou

1.One Story Fram
2.Two Story Fram
3.Three Story Fr
4.1 & 1/2 Story 
5.1 & 3/4 Story 
6.2 & 1/2 Story 
21.Open Frame Por
22.Encl Frame Por
23.Frame Garage
24.Frame Shed
25.Finished 1/2 S
26.1SFr Overhang
27.Unfin Basement
28.Unfinished Att
29.Finished Attic

21 Open Frame

Additions, Outbuildings & Improvements
Type Year Units Grade Cond Phys. Funct. Sound Value

%%
7 1 Story Bsmt Fr
21 Open Frame
7 1 Story Bsmt Fr
23 Frame Garage

0
1991
1991
0
1

207
353
24
30
884

0 0
9 100
9 100
0 0
2 100

0
4
4
0
2

0
0
0
0
0

0
100
100
0
100

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

Building Style
1.Conv.   
2.Ranch
3.R Ranch

10.Log
11.Other

9.Condo5.Colonial
6.Split
7.Contemp

SF Bsmt Living Layout
1.Typical
2.Inadeq
3.

8.
9.

7.4.
5.
6.

Dwelling Units
Other Units
Stories
1.1
2.2
3.3

8.4
9.

7.3.504.1.5
5.1.75
6.2.5

Exterior Walls

Roof Surface
1.Asphalt
2.Slate
3.Metal

8.
9.

7.4.Composit
5.Wood
6.Rolled R

SF Masonry Trim
OPEN-3-CUSTOM
OPEN-4-CUSTOM
Year Built
Year Remodeled
Foundation
1.Concrete
2.C Block
3.Br/Stone

8.
9.

7.ICF4.Wood
5.Slab
6.Piers

Basement
1.1/4 Bmt
2.1/2 Bmt
3.3/4 Bmt

8.
9.None

7.4.Full Bmt
5.Crawl Sp
6.

Bsmt Gar # Cars

Fin Bsmt Grade
OPEN 5 OPTIONAL 
Heat Type
1.HWBB    
2.HWCI    
3.H Pump 7.Electric

8.Fl/Wall

9.No Heat

4.Radiant

10.
5.FWA     

Cool Type
1.Refrig
2.Evapor
3.H Pump 6.

7.
8.

4.W&C Air

9.None
5.

Kitchen Style
1.Modern
2.Typical
3.Old Type 6.

7.
8.

4.Obsolete

9.None
5.

Wet Basement
1.Dry
2.Damp
3.Wet

8.
9.

7.4.Dirt
5.
6.

Bath(s) Style
1.Modern
2.Typical
3.Old Type 6.

7.
8.

4.Obsolete

9.None
5.

# Rooms
# Bedrooms
# Full Baths
# Half Baths
# Addn Fixtures
# Fireplaces

Attic
1.1/4 Fin
2.1/2 Fin
3.3/4 Fin

8.
9.None

7.4.Full Fin
5.Fl/Stair
6.

Insulation
1.Full
2.Heavy
3.Capped

8.
9.None

7.4.Minimal
5.Partial
6.

Unfinished %
Grade & Factor
1.E Grade
2.D Grade
3.C Grade

8.MS Grade
9.Same

7.AAA Grad4.B Grade
5.A Grade
6.AA Grade

SQFT (Footprint)
Condition
1.Poor
2.Fair
3.Avg-

8.Exc
9.Same

7.V G4.Avg
5.Avg+
6.Good

Phys. % Good
Funct. % Good
Functional Code
1.Incomp
2.O-Built
3.Style

8.Frac Sha
9.None

7.4.Plb/Heat
5.
6.

Econ. % Good
Economic Code
0.None
1.Location
2.Encroach

8.
9.

7.3.No Power
4.Generate
9.None

Entrance Code
1.Interior
2.Refusal
3.Informed

8.Exsist R
9.

7.4.Vacant
5.Estimate
6.Hanger

Information Code
1.Owner
2.Relative
3.Tenant

8.Exist  R
9.For Sale

7.Vacant4.Agent
5.Estimate
6.OtherDate Inspected

11.

4.Cape 12.Gambrel8.Cottage

1.Wood    
2.Vinyl
3.Compos. 

10.Alum
11.Log

9.Other   5.Shingles
6.Brick
7.Single

4.Asbestos 12.Stone8.Concrete

6.GravWA  

12.

9/19/2011

1 Conventional

1
0
4 One & 1/2 Story

2 Vinyl

1 Asphalt Shingles

0
0
0
1
0

1 Concrete

4 Full Basement

0
2 Damp Basement

1 Typical

9 None

1 Full

0%
3 Average 95%

667
3 Below Average

0%
100%
9 None

100%
None

6 Hanger

5 Estimate

0
0  0

5 Forced Warm Air

9 None

2 Typical

2 Typical Bath(s)

0
1
1
0
0
0

0
100%

0%

58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



City Manager's Report
June 26, 2023

 

Economic Projects

   

River Front - Powerplants
Working on required items for the Brownfields Grant of $900,000 for the diesel plant and smaller buildings; EPA and DEP are 
initiating a CERCLA action plan to remove some contaminates from the area. UCONN will be on site July 11 & 12.

Broadband Initiative The Caribou Utilities District discussed this at their last meeting. Charter / Spectrum is still working on their grant contract with MCA.

CDBG No new updates

Ogren Dump Solar Project No new updates

Events and Marketing
The next Thursdays on Sweden Street is June 29. Theme: "A Salute to Veterans", live entertainment by the "No Pressure" and 
Northern Maine Brewing Company will be your hosts in the outdoor café.

Landbank No new updates

Chapter 13 Rewrite No new updates

Federal American Rescue Plan Act
Waiting for a decision from the Aroostook County Commissioners on our ARPA application for new turn‐out gear (FIRE/EMS) and a 
body worn camera system (POLICE).

Blight Cleanup No new updates

Birdseye Cleanup No new updates

Caribou Development Committee The group will have their second meeting next week. First meeting was May 31. Very energetic group.

River Front - Master Plan NBRC Application was submitted on time. We will have an answer in August.

Façade Improvement Program No new updates

Aldrich ATV/Snowmobile Storage City Manager met with owner and provided additional information.

Caribou Economic Growth Council No new updates

Business Outreach Two local businesses have changed ownership recently. On agenda for tonight. 117



Other Administrative Projects

Tax Acquired Property Policy
A Supreme Court case may affect the tax‐acquired property process here in Maine. MMA and other attorneys are working on this. 
One bid on tonight's agenda.

Nylander Proposed by‐Laws for the Nylander Museum of Natural History Board of Trustees is on tonight's agenda.

Fire Structural Work Sewell has done some work on this issue recently.

Fire Station Renovations No new updates

Police Station Public Safety Committee met via zoom with Ellen and Rob on May 24

River Road No new updates

Investment Policy No new updates

Trailer Park Closure The park will be closing in July

Cable Franchise Renewal No new updates

Airport Citizen Advisory Committee meeting was held June 13

Personnel Policy No new updates

New LED Street lights No new updates

Comp Plan Update
Last session was May 25. Topic was Riverfront. Next work session will be on Thursday July 20 at the Wellness Center. Topic is 
Recreation.

COVID-19 Status No new updates

15 Prospect Street The City has received a response from Mr. Barretto

Water Street Fire On tonight's agenda

Age-Friendly Efforts Meeting held on May 23

Personnel Changes All positions at the Caribou Fire & Ambulance Department have been filled

Other Updates
Caribou has been invited to participate in a competition at the National Brownfields conference to receive pro‐bono consulting work 
on our reuse project.

Administrative Approvals Extension of premises for Evergreen Lanes featuring Rendezvous Restaurant approved June 2.

DOT Village Partnership Jarod was here June 8. Next step is for DOT to finalize a scope of work for the plan.

118



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   June 26, 2023 
Re:   Nylander Museum – Introduction of By-Laws 

  

The City Council has established a working board for the Nylander Museum of Natural History. 

One of their first tasks was to create by-laws. Those are attached for your review. 

 

Suggested action: 

Please review the by-laws and ask any questions. Library Director Peter Baldwin will be 
available to provide answers. 

The Nylander Museum of Natural History Board of Trustees has requested that the Caribou City 
Council accept the by-laws with a motion, second, and affirmative vote. 

 

 

 

119



120



121



122



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   June 26, 2023 
Re:   Charter amendment from the City Council Charter committee  

  

The Caribou City Council charter committee met and indicated that they would like to put the 
following charter change on the ballot at the November 7, 2023 election. 
 
This was reviewed my City Attorney Rick Solman.  
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
Introduce Ordinance 3, 2023 series amending the Caribou City Charter. This would go to a 
referendum vote at the November 7, 2023 election. 
 
The public hearing will be held at the July 24, 2023 meeting. 
 

123



From the Caribou City Council Charter Commitee for the November 2023 elec�on, one ques�on for the ballot amending 
Sec�on 5.06 (b) (4). 

QUESTION 1 
Ordinance No. 3, 2023 Series 

 

Shall the municipality approve the charter amendment reprinted (summarized) below? 
               YES 

               NO 

 

Amendment. 
Caribou City Charter Section 5.06  Budget (b)(4) is amended as follows: (underlined text is added, stricken text 
is deleted). 

(4) Submissions of projects to voters. All capital improvement projects involving $500,000 or more of municipal 
funds shall be submitted to the registered voters of the City of Caribou by holding a referendum vote thereon.  If 
a majority of ballots cast for a referendum question favors approval the improvement project is approved, 
provided the total number of votes cast for and against the referendum question equals or exceeds 65% of the 
total number of registered voters in City of Caribou at the time of the election. A project is defined as a complete 
list of capital expense purchases combined together to build a building, purchase vehicles or machinery, provide 
a service to the citizens of the city, or a combination thereof, and not currently part of the schedule of City assets. 

124



 
 

 
Ordinance No. 3, 2023 Series 

City of Caribou 
County of Aroostook 

State of Maine 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CARIBOU CITY CHARTER, TO AMEND THE 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT REFERENDUM PROCESS 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is a Local Unit of Government under the State of Maine and is 
granted home rule authority under Maine Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §3001; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Caribou City Charter outlines Financial Procedures in Chapter V ; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Caribou City Charter outlines procedures for the Capital Expense Budget; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Caribou City Charter recognizes that capital improvement projects involving 
$500,000 or more of municipal funds shall be submitted to the registered voters of the City of 
Caribou by holding a referendum; and 
  
WHEREAS, any ordinance seeking to amend the charter must be approved by a vote of the 
citizens at the next general election. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of 
Maine, pursuant to the requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11, and Maine 
Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §2104, presents for consideration of the voters, the following 
changes to the Charter.  
 
Section I. Amendment to the Capital Improvement Referendum Process 

 
Caribou City Charter Section 5.06  Budget (b)(4) is amended as follows: (underlined text is 
added, stricken text is deleted). 

(4) Submissions of projects to voters. All capital improvement projects involving $500,000 or 
more of municipal funds shall be submitted to the registered voters of the City of Caribou by 
holding a referendum vote thereon.  If a majority of ballots cast for a referendum question favors 
approval the improvement project is approved, provided the total number of votes cast for and 
against the referendum question equals or exceeds 65% of the total number of registered voters in 
City of Caribou at the time of the election. A project is defined as a complete list of capital expense 
purchases combined together to build a building, purchase vehicles or machinery, provide a service 
to the citizens of the city, or a combination thereof, and not currently part of the schedule of City 
assets. 

 
Section II.  Severability 
If any part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall, for 
any reason, be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 
judgment shall not affect, impair of invalidate the remainder of this ordinance or the application 

125



thereof to other persons and circumstances, but shall be confined to its operation to the section, 
subdivision, sentence or part of the section and the persons and circumstances directly involved in 
the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered.  It is hereby declared to be the 
intent of the City Council that this section would have been adopted if such invalid section, 
provisions, subdivision, sentence or part of a section or application had not been included. 
 
Section III. Posting and Effective Date 

This ordinance, being introduced on ______________, and a public hearing being held on 
______________ was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, Maine, this 
_____day of __________________ 2023. This ordinance shall become effective 24 hours after 
affirming vote of the citizens during the __________________________ election.  

 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Daniel Bagley      Courtney Boma 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
R. Mark Goughan     John Morrill 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Joan Theriault      Louella Willey 
 
______________________________   
Jody Smith, Mayor  
         Attest: 
 

______________________________ 
Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

 
 
 
 

126



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   June 26, 2023 
Re:   First read – MOU for the Dust Bowl  

  

The Dust Bowl is coming to Caribou, September 14 – 17, 2023.  
 
Staff have met with Troy Haney and Jim Gamage to work out details to allow the organizers to 
charge for the events they are holding at the Wellness Center on Friday September 15, 2023.  
 
The schedule and draft MOU follows for your review. 
 
 
  

127



 

 
DustBowl Schedule 
Starting September 1st 
Scarecrow/Pumpkin Decorating contest leading up to the event 
 
Thursday September 14th 
Kick Off Sponsor Party 6-9PM Location Evergreen Lanes 
 
Friday, September 15th 
Downtown Dustbowl Street Party 4-9pm 
4PM Food Trucks & Vendors open for Business 
    Antique Tractor & ATV Show 
    Bounce Houses, Vendors, Zip Line, games & other Attractions  
    Music by DJ 
6:30 The Caribou FFA Great Pumpkin Drop! 
7:30PM Rave X Stunt Show sponsored by Dead River 
Fireworks to follow show 
 
Saturday, September 16th 
Gates open @ 8AM for Grass Drag Pits 
9AM General Admission Opens to Public 
10 AM Grass Drags start & Vendors and Attractions Open 
 Zip Lines 
 Fun Zone 
 Axe throwing, bull ride, ect… 
7:30-8PM approx start time Laser Show 
9PM closing time 
 
Sunday September 17th 
9AM Meet at the Mall for ATV Ride to the top of Mars Hill Mountain 10 AM take off 
 Lunch served at the mountain  
10AM Gates open 
 Vendors & Attractions open 
 Car show Registration at 10-11 
 Car Show on Track from 11-2 
 Highway Tire Burn Out Competition at 2 until done 
1PM Maine State Pullers Association Truck & Tractor Pull 
3:00 Maine Outlaw Midgets Series & Maine Enduro Tour Races 
4:00 Mark’s Towing Demo Derby 
5PM Event Ends See you all at the Snowbowl in March! 
 

128



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
Between Spud Speedway and the City of Caribou 

 
WHEREAS,  Spud Speedway (DustBowl) and City of Caribou will collaborate for the creation and promotion of the 
DustBowl event to be held September 15, 2023, at Caribou Wellness Center, Bennett Drive in Caribou, Maine.  
 
WHEREAS, the above stated partners herein desire to enter into a Memorandum of Understanding setting forth the 
services to be provided by the collaborative; and division of roles and responsibilities pertaining to the event.  
 
WHEREAS, the overall goal of this event is to bring awareness to our city, hospitality, and trail system, celebrate our 
community, and lead by example showing the collaboration between public and private entities working alongside each 
other for the good of all.   
 
WHEREAS, monies collected at gate entrances are for DustBowl entity and will be staffed by DustBowl employees.  

1. $15 for ages 13 and up 
2. $5 for ages 6 to 12 
3. Under 5 is Free 

 

Roles and Responsibilities  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed by and between the partners as follows:  
 
1)   Spud Speedway (DustBowl) will: 

• Participate in regular (Monthly, bi-weekly, then weekly) event coordination meetings at a mutually agreed upon 
day/time.  

• Develop sponsorship materials for solicitation of corporate sponsors. 
• Provide a list of vendors, their licenses and COI with the Spud Speedway and City of Caribou named as additional 

insurers. 
• Provide map of vendor location. 
• Promote the event via social media, TV, radio, newsletters, posters, and banners. 
• Write and distribute press releases about the event to local and statewide media.  
• Staff entrances for admissions, staff outdoor café for security checks. 
• Work with Aroostook EMA to develop an Emergency Action Plan. 

 
2)   City of Caribou will:  

• Participate in regular (Monthly, bi-weekly, then weekly) event coordination meetings at a mutually agreed upon 
day/time.  

• Provide barricades at Wellness Center property. 
• Work with Aroostook EMA to develop an Emergency Action Plan. 
• Share social media posts by Spud Speedway promoting the event.   
• Provide City services as needed, but not limited to: Fire, Police, EMS, Public Works, Recreation Department.  (i.e. 

loader, forktruck, skid steer, police presence, EMS on hand…) 
  

Spud Speedway (DustBowl)     City of Caribou, Maine 
 
By: Jim Gamage and Troy Haney     By: Penny Thompson 
 
Signature: ____________________________________  Signature: _____________________________________ 
  
 
Date: ____________________     Date: ______________________ 
 129



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   June 26, 2023 
Re:   2023 Tax Commitment 

  

Like many municipalities in Maine, Caribou needed to update values to maintain equity with the sales 
prices of homes in the current real estate market. This has been done. Staff have received a lot of 
questions on methodology so more information will be forthcoming. 

This is a summary of the actions to be taken at the meeting when the Caribou City Council will set the 
2023 tax rate and approved the other motions associated with the annual tax commitment.  

1. Set a tax rate for the commitment of 2022 property taxes. 
Recommended Action: set the 2022 tax rate at ___________;  
 
2. Set the date of commitment for the 2023 property taxes to be committed to the Tax Collector as 

pursuant to MRSA Title 36, §505 (1). 
Recommended Action: Set a commitment date of ______;   
 
3. Established a date that the 2023 property taxes will be due and payable, pursuant to MRSA Title 

36, §505 (2). 
Recommended Action: Set the due date as ________ Staff Recommendation: (Estimated to be 2+ 
weeks after bill mailing). 
 
4. Established a date for interest to begin accruing on any delinquent 2023 property taxes, pursuant 

to MRSA Title 36, §505 (4). 
Recommended Action: Set the date for interest to begin as _____________ Staff Recommendation: 
Sunday October 1, 2023 (Typically October 1 annually. Note: last day to pay before interest begins 
would be Friday September 29, 2023, which will be noted on the tax bill.) 
 
5. Established a rate of interest to be charged on delinquent 2023 property taxes, pursuant to MRSA 

Title 36, §505(4). 
Recommended Action: Set the rate of interest on delinquent taxes at _______% Staff 
Recommendation: 8%  (Typically set at the state maximum. For 2023, the state maximum is 8%.) 

 

6. Established a rate of interest for the overpayment and or abatement of property taxes for 2022, 
pursuant to MRSA Title 36 § 506-A. 

Recommended Action: Set the rate of interest on overpayment and or abatement of property taxes 
at ____________% Staff Recommendation: 0%  (Typically 0%)  

 

7. Additionally, in speaking with the software provider – Trio – it is recommended that municipal 
offices close early on the last business day of the year to allow ample time to finish all year-end 
process while the Trio support line is available. Staff Recommendation: Close the city office at 

130



1:00 pm on Friday December 29, 2023, so staff can complete the year end process. NOTE: Again, 
next year, the last business day of the year will NOT be December 31 because of the New Year’s 
Day holiday. By deciding now to close the office early, staff can print this on the tax bills and alert 
taxpayers to the early closure. This was done last year and the increased communication about 
the closure was appreciated by taxpayers. The office will be closed. Employees will be working.  

 
8. The changes to the revenue lines would be as follows: 

Line Number Description Original Budget Amended Budget (  ) 
R10-01-32 Property Taxes $ 3,615,900 $  
R10-01-34 Overlay $               0  $        
R11-01-01 Economic Development (TIF) $    315,000       $     
R22-01-04 Homestead Exemption $    830,000 $     
R22-01-05 BETE Reimbursement $    175,000 $     

 

 

A few notes to the Caribou City Council and taxpayers: 

The reimbursement rate for Homestead Exemptions has increased from 73% to 76% in 2023. 

There is more BETE eligible property this year with the inclusion of two solar farms who were not 
online April 1, 2023. Those will be exempt under the Renewable Energy exemption next year. 

 

131



 

 

 

Resolution 06-02-2023 

A Resolution of the Caribou City Council  
Establishing the 2023 Tax Mil Rate and Collection Items 

 
WHEREAS, The City is authorized under Maine State law to levy and collect taxes as needed to cover 
adopted city budgets expenses, and 
 
WHEREAS, The levying of taxes must be uniformly applied based on the taxable value of real estate and 
personal property, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Assessors’ Agents have completed calculation of 2023 taxable real estate and personal 
property values in accordance with State of Maine Assessing laws and practices, and  
 
WHEREAS, The Caribou City Charter now requires the Council to set a tax mil rate prior to June 30, and  
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY, THE CARIBOU CITY COUNCIL that  
1) the 2023 tax mil rate shall be ________________ 
2) the date of commitment for the 2023 property taxes to be committed to the Tax Collector as pursuant 

to MRSA Title 36, §505 (1) shall be _______________ 
3) Property taxes shall be due and payable, on __________  pursuant to MRSA Title 36, §505 (2).   
4) Interest shall begin accruing on any delinquent 2023 property taxes on October 1, 2023, pursuant to 

MRSA title 36, §505 (4).   
5) The rate of interest to be charged on delinquent 2023  property taxes, pursuant to MRSA Title 36, §505 

(4) shall be four percent (8.0%).   
6) The rate of interest to be applied for the overpayment and or abatement of property taxes for 2023, 

pursuant to MRSA Title 36, §506-A shall be zero percent (0.0%).   
7) The revenue budget shall be amended as follow: 

 
Line Number Description Original Budget Amended Budget (.01980) 
R10-01-32 Property Taxes $ 3,615,900 $    
R10-01-34 Overlay $    0 $         
R11-01-01 Economic Development (TIF) $    315,000 $       
R22-01-04 Homestead Exemption $    830,000 $       
R22-01-05 BETE Reimbursement $    175,000 $       

 
This resolution was duly passed and approved by a majority of the City Council of the City of Caribou this 
26th day of June 2023.  
 
________________________________  __________________________________ 
Jody R. Smith, Mayor    Attest: Danielle Brissette, City Clerk  

[City Seal]    

132



May '23

WAITING LIST STATISTICS

Jan Feb Mar April May JuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

Applicants in Jurisdiction 35 0 39 6 28 108

VAWA Preference 1 0 0 0 0 1

Veteran's Preference 2 0 0 0 0 2

Natural Disaster 0 0 0 1 1 2

 Living in Caribou 19 0 29 5 15 68

 Mainstream 16 0 16 3 8 43

HOUSING CHOICE VOUCHER PROGRAM

Jan Feb Mar April May JuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

HUD Allocated Vouchers 196 196 196 196 196 ## ## ## ## ## ## ## 2352

Total Vouchers Leased 174 172 176 176 170 868

Port Out Vouchers 1                   -                    -                   -                   0 1

Homeownership Vouchers 1                   1                   1                  1                  1 5

All Other Housing Choice Vouchers 172 171 174 172 169 858

YTD Openings 22 24 20 20 26 112

Applicants Pulled From Waiting List 0 26 0 56 0 82

Vouchers Issued 0 11 4 2 1 18

Vouchers Expired 1 2 0 5 12 20

Vouchers on Street 6 12 9 10 3 40

Total HAP Expense 83,917$        84,098$        85,943$       85,871$       84,700$       # # # # # # # 424,529$      

All Other Voucher 73,818$        74,074$        75,447$       75,813$       75,069$       374,221$      

Port Out Payments -$                  -$                  -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                  

Homeownership HAP 284$             284$             284$            284$            284$            1,420$          

FSS Escrow, Particiants Account 9,815$          9,740$          10,212$       9,774$         9,347$         48,888$        

Ave. Per Unit Cost 482$             489$             488$            488$            498$            489$             

Lease Up Rates Jan Feb Mar April May JuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

HUD Allocated -vs- Leased 89% 88% 90% 90% 87%

HUD Funded -vs- HAP Expense 97% 97% 104% 104% #DIV/0!

MAINSTREAM VOUCHERS

Jan Feb Mar April May JuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

Allocated Vouchers 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 480

Total Vouchers Leased 32               32               30              29              32              155

Total HAP Expense 14,685$        15,588$        13,655$       14,789$       15,309$       # # # # # # # 74,026$        

HAP Expense 14,014$        15,213$        13,280$       14,087$       14,607$       71,201$        

FSS Escrow, Participants Account 671$             375$             375$            702$            702$            2,825$          

YTD Openings 8 8 10 11 8 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 325

Appllicants Pulled from Waiting List 0 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13

Vouchers Issued 0 2 7 0 1 10

Voucher Expired 1 0 0 0 0 1

Vouchers on Street 0 2 9 8 7 26

PORT IN / FOSTER YOUTH TO INDEPENDENCE

Jan Feb Mar April May JuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

Vouchers Leased 0 0

FYI HAP -$                  -$                  -$                 -$                 -$                 # # # # # # # -$                  

LANDLORD PARTICIPATION INCENTIVE PROGRAM

CARIBOU HOUSING AUTHORITY

 - HOUSING CHOICE VOUCHER - 

 - MAINSTREAM PROGRAM - 

 - FOSTER YOUTH PROGRAM - 

- EMERGENCY HOUSING VOUCHER PROGRAM- 

 FAMILY SELF-SUFFICIENCY PROGRAM

133



EMERGENCY HOUSING VOUCHERS 

Jan Feb Mar April May JuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

Allocated Vouchers 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 180

Total Vouchers Leased 13                     12                     12                    12                    14                    ## ## ## ## ## ## ## 147

Total HAP Expenses 8,284$              7,831$              8,545$             8,999$             9,171$             -$ -$ -$ -$ -$ -$ -$ -$ 42,830$            

Hap Expense 7,493$              7,040$              7,754$             8,208$             8,380$             38,875$            

FSS Escrow, Parti cipants Account 791$                 791$                 791$                791$                791$                3,955$              

YTD Openings 2 3 3 3 1 12

Vouchers Issued 1 0 1 0 2 4

Voucher Expired 0 0 0 0 0 0

Vouchers on Street 0 0 1 0 2 3

HOUSING QUALITY STANDARDS INSPECTIONS

Jan Feb Mar April May JuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

Initial Inspection 6 3 4 1 6 20

Annual Inspection 0 0 0 0 1 1

Tenant/Landlord Requested 1 0 0 0 1 2

No Show 0 0 0 0

Reinpsection(s) 0 0 0 0 1 1

0 0

Other, Public Housing Authority Inspections 0 0 0 0 0 0

Toal Inspections 7 3 4 1 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 24

SPECIALITY PROGRAM - FAMILY SELF-SUFFICIENCY

Jan Feb Mar April May JuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

Number of Participants 11,277$        10,906$        11,378$       11,267$       10,840$       33,561$        

Number Earning Escrow 59 59 61 65 62 306

FSS Escrow, Particiants Account 0

FSS Famlies, Disbursement 0 2 3 2 4 11

FSS Disbursement Amount -$              928.00$        779.69$       5,773.68$    4,789.76$    12,271$        

FSS Graduate, Families 4 0 1 0 0 5

FSS Graudate, Escrow 18,503$        -$                  7,490$         -$                 -$                 25,993$        

-$                 

FSS Forfeiture, Families 0 0 1 1 0 2$                 

FSS Forfeiture, Escrow -$                  -$                  284$            856$            -$                 1,141$          

LANDLORD INCENTIVE PROGRAM

Jan Feb Mar April May JuneJulyAugSepOctNovDec YTD

Signing Bonus 1,500$          4,000$          1,280$         3,250$         4,500$         # # # # # # # # 14,530$        

Housing Choice Voucher 1 2 2 3 3 11$               

750$             1,500$          1,280$         2,250$         2,250$         8,030$          

Mainstream 1 2 0 0 3 6

750$             1,500$          -$                 -$                 2,250$         4,500$          

Emergency Housing Voucher 0 1 0 1 0 2

-$                  1,000$          -$                 1,000$         -$                 #

Security Deposit 1,393$          3,240$          2,250$         1,560$         1,333$         # # # # # # # # 9,776$          

Housing Choice Voucher 1 2 2 1 1 7

693.00$        1,380.00$     2,250.00$    660.00$       693.00$       5,676.00$     

Mainstream 1 1 0 0 1 3

700.00$        1,210.00$     -$             -$             640.00$       2,550.00$     

Emergency Housing Voucher 0 1 0 1 0 2

-$                  650$             -$                 900$            -$                 1,550$          

Repair Grants -$                  -$                  -$                 -$                 -$                 # # # # # # # # 2$                 

Housing Choice Voucher 0 0 0 0 0 0

-$                  -$                  -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                  

Mainstream 0 0 0 0 0 0

-$                  -$                  -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                  

-$                     

HQS Common Deficiencies:  Inoperable GFCI outlets, missing/inoperable smoke detectors, cracked windows, cluttered/dirty units.

134



Damage Reimbursements 1,500$          144$             -$                 -$                 -$                 # # # # # # # # 1,644$          

Housing Choice Voucher 1 1 0 0 0 2

1,500$          144$             -$                 -$                 -$                 1,644$          

Mainstream 0 0 0 0 0 0

-$                  -$                  -$                 -$                 -$                 144$             

Grand Total of Incentives 4,393$          7,384$          3,530$         4,810$         5,833$         # # # # # # # 25,950$        

129,782$      115,829$      119,943$     120,243$     119,803$     # # # # # # # # 605,599$      

129,782$      245,611$      365,554$     485,797$     605,599$     

13.1% 5.5% 8.0% 8.4% 5.3% 8.1%

112,788$      109,495$      110,299$     110,147$     113,467$     # # # # # # #

YEAR TO DATE 112,788$      222,283$      332,582$     442,729$     556,196$     # # # # # # # #

GRAND TOTAL OF ASSISTANCE INTO LOCAL 

ECONOMY

2023 YEAR TO DATE

Percentage Increase, 2023-vs- 2022

2022 MONTHLY ASSITSTANCE

135



Caribou Public Library 
DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

To:   Mayor and City Councilors  
  Penny Thompson, City Manager 
From: Peter Baldwin, Library Director 
May 2023 Report  
  This month, the library has skipped spring entirely and gone straight into summer! 
While our summer reading program will be starting up next month, we still had plenty to 
do this month! We held a Volunteer Field Day this month to help shape up the Library 
gardens and to begin repainting the Gazebo. It has made a complete turn around, and is 
looking just perfect. This comes just in time for the Perrennial sale coming on June 10th! 

 Furthering the exciting news, the Library has been chosen as the recipient of a 
$20,000 grant from the LTC: Accessible Small and Rural Libraries Committee through 
the American Library Association, a $9,000 grant from the Maine Community 
Foundation, and a $1,000 donation from the Willey Foundation. All of this funding was 
sought after for the creation of a Bookmobile for the Library and the surrounding 
community. We are already looking at vehicles to purchase and seeking avenues for 
outfitting. We have applied for additional funding but have yet to hear back.  

 We also appplied for a grant this month for $5,200 through the Maine State 
Library’s ARPA funding for Remote Workers to create a Hot Spot and Laptop Lending 
Program. This would allow us to have ~6 laptops and 11 Hot Spots available for public 
use for those who are in need of internet access in their home for remote work, telehealth 
needs, or building computer literacy skills.  

 The Director attended the Maine Library Associations Annual Conference this 
month. There, the Director was able to gain some new ideas for programming for older 
adults, the integration of AI into libraries, and policy development. We are already using 
some of this information to develop future services that we can offer our patrons.  

That’s all for us at the Library, tune in next month for more Library fun! 

Peter Baldwin 

136



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

137



 

**As of 2020 the Maine State Library is now requiring that public libraries track renewals as part of their statistics. STEAM Kits made available in 
November 2021 ** 

 

 

138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146


